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have known" in Section 15(c)(4). 91 Citing the lack of a statutory definition,
legislative discussion, or administrative case law other than Kern, the Task
Force members felt compelled to follow the AL's conclusion that Congress
intended to use a negligence standard based on the ordinary meaning of the
phrase "should have known."9 The Task Force reasoned that both Supreme
Court decisions in other contexts93 and leading authorities on tort law94

buttressed this interpretation as the plain meaning. 95 However, statutory
construction aside, the Task Force still maintained that, as a matter of policy,
the Commission should not use the full power that Congress had given it in
this case and should only institute Section 15(c)(4) proceedings against
persons who cause violations intentionally or recklessly. The Task Force's
reasons for this policy included protecting individuals from career-damaging
public stigma (from which entity violators are immune) and preventing
circumvention of the recklessness standard in SEC Rule of Practice 102(e)
disciplinary proceedings against securities attorneys and accountants.'

2. Legislative History of the Remedies Act

Prior to the enactment of the Remedies Act, the "any person" language
of Section 15(c)(4) provided virtually the only way for the Commission to

91. See id. at 280-85 (examining mental state requirement or standard of culpability).
92. See id. at 280-81 (approving Kern's negligence standard as consistent with congres-

sional intent).
93. See Scindia Steam Navigation Co. v. De Los Santos, 451 U.S. 156, 169 & n.16 (1981)

(characterizing phrase "knew or should have known" in context of longshoremen's compensa-
tion statute as "cast in terms of negligence rather than unseaworthiness"); Gallick v. Baltimore
& Ohio R.R. Co., 372 U.S. 108, 118 (1963) (reciting jury instructions in Federal Employers'
Liability Act case as defining negligence in terms of reasonable foreseeability or what "in the
light of the facts then known, should or could reasonably have been anticipated").

94. See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 284(a) (1965) ("Negligent conduct may
be ... an act which the actor as a reasonable man should recognize as involving an unreason-
able risk of causing an invasion of an interest of another. . . .") (emphasis added); W. PAGE
KEETON ET AL., PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS § 32, at 175 (5th ed. 1984)
("[N]egligence is a failure to do what the reasonable person would do 'under the same or similar
circumstances."') (emphasis added).

95. See ABA Report, supra note 71, at 281 & nn. 132-34 (citing these sources).
96. See id. at 282 (stating Task Force's policy recommendations on use of causing

liability).
97. See id. at 282-85 (explaining Task Force's reasoning); supra note 48 (explaining Rule

102(e)). However, the SEC has since amended Rule 102(e) to encompass negligent improper
professional conduct by accountants. See SEC Rule of Practice 102(e), 17 C.F.R.
§ 201.102(eXlXiv) (2002) (punishing single instances of highly unreasonable conduct and
repeated instances of unreasonable conduct by accountants). Moreover, while entities do not
have "careers" as such, they certainly are not immune from bad publicity.
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bring administrative proceedings against individuals not regularly involved
in the securities industry.9 But Congress and the SEC had limited this power
in three important ways. First, only violations of Sections 12-15 of the
Exchange Act (and the rules thereunder) could give rise to Section 15(c)(4)
causing liability, so individuals could not be liable for causing Section 10(b)
securities frauds.99 Second, Congress never intended the section to be an
enforcement tool because, as indicated by the Commission's opinion in Kern,
the only remedy that Section 15(c)(4) provides is an order to correct fil-
ings-the SEC could not order prospective relief. 0 Finally, because of the
foregoing limitations, the SEC used Section 15(c)(4) to pursue only individu-
als who caused an entity to violate a securities law; a person could not cause
another person's violation under that provision.1°1

Because of these limitations, the Commission petitioned Congress in
1989 to amend Section 15(c)(4) and enhance its potential as an enforcement
weapon by permitting, among other things, the imposition of civil monetary
penalties under that section.102 Congress did not act on the proposal, but one
year later newly appointed SEC Chairman Richard Breeden proposed that
Congress give the SEC the power to issue administrative cease-and-desist
orders instead of amending Section 15(c)(4).103 This proposal was the progen-
itor of the Remedies Act, ° but because the SEC did not submit the statutory
language to Congress until after all the committee hearings on the subject,

98. See Hiler & Gilman, supra note 3, at 237-38 (stating role of Section 15(cX4) prior
to Remedies Act); Morrissey, supra note 3, at 464 (same); see also McLucas et al., supra note
4, at 830-31 (noting Securities Act Section 8(d) stop orders and Section 120) registration
revocation as only other options).

99. See 3D HAROLD S. BLOOMENTHAL & SAMUEL WOLFF, SECURImS AND FEDERAL
CORPORATE LAW § 20:23 (2d ed. 2002) (noting limitation to Sections 12-15); William R.
McLucas & Laurie Romanowich, SEC Enforcement Proceedings Under Section 15(c)(4) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 41 Bus. LAW. 145, 149 (1985) (noting Section 10(b) exclu-
sion).

100. See 3D BLOOMENTHAL& WoLFF, supra note 99, § 20:23 (noting lack of penalty under
Section 15(cX4)); Hiler & Gilman, supra note 3, at 237 (discussing Section 15(c)(4) remedies
under Kern).

101. See ABA Report, supra note 71, at 266 (noting that SEC used Section 15(cX4) against
individuals only fifteen times, all of which were against directors, officers, or employees of
entities whose compliance failures they had allegedly caused).

102. See Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 38 (giving details of 1989 proposal).
103. See id. at 38-39 (discussing 1990 proposal); Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at

13-14 (discussing 1989 and 1990 proposals); see also Hansen, supra note 3, at 340 (noting that
SEC told Congress in 1989 that it "neither needed nor wanted" cease-and-desist authority
because Section 15(cX4) was sufficient).

104. See Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 34-42 (summarizing legislative history of Remedies
Act); Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at 13-14 (same).
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meaningful debate on the Act was practically nonexistent.' Specifically,
neither the House nor the Senate report on the Remedies Act even mentions
the concept of causing liability or its possible negligence standard.'0 6 Thus,
"despite the uncertainty surrounding the concept of liability for causing a
violation under Section 15(c)(4), Congress employed virtually identical
language in the Remedies Act without discussion. '"I"

The Commission has not initiated a Section 15(c)(4) proceeding since
1990 because, unlike that section, the Remedies Act clearly provides for
prospective relief via cease-and-desist orders."° Thus, the Commission now
uses the Remedies Act in lieu of Section 15(c)(4). Nevertheless, several
commentators have suggested that, unless courts can somehow assign differ-
ent meanings to the identical causing liability language in Section 15(c)(4)
and the Remedies Act, they should view Kern's negligence standard as
governing the new form of causing liability as well."° However, several
considerations counsel against this method of interpreting causing liability
under the Remedies Act exclusively by textual comparison to Section
15(c)(4). First, the ALJ's decision in Kern does not bind the Commission or
even other ALJs regarding the proper interpretation of Section 15(c)(4) or the
Remedies Act."' Second, Kern only addressed the mental state requirement
of causing liability under Section 15(c)(4) and thus provides only limited
guidance on other causing liability issues."' Finally, a purely textual compar-
ison ignores the AL's observation in Kern that the phrase "knew or should

105. See Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at 14 (stating that debate suffered because of late
draft submission).

106. See H.R. REP. No. 101-616 (1990) (omitting discussion of causing liability), reprinted
in 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1379; S. REP. No. 101-337 (1990) (same); Ferrara et al., supra note 2,
at 59 (noting omission of causing liability from reports); Hansen, supra note 3, at 345 & n.25
(same).

107. Hansen, supra note 3, at 345.
108. See Hiler & Oilman, supra note 3, at 238, 240 n.15 (noting that, unlike Section

15(c)(4), Remedies Act expressly permits SEC to issue orders directing future compliance,
which explains decline of Section 15(cX4)).

109. See Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 59-60 (observing that SEC is likely to take position
that negligence suffices for causing liability based on similar statutory language in Section
15(c)(4) and Remedies Act); Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 34,38-39 (same); see also
Hansen, supra note 3, at 346 (stating that SEC can allege causing liability based on negligence
unless courts interpret two statutes differently).

110. See supra note 83 and accompanying text (noting that Commission expressed no
opinion in Kern regarding negligence standard); infra notes 149, 187, and accompanying text
(discussing cases in which ALJs disagreed with conclusions of law expressed in prior initial
decisions of other ALJs).

111. See infra Part MI.C.3 (examining issue of further showing for prospective relief); infra
Part III.E.2 (examining issue of degree of action required for causing liability); infra Part lIl.E.3
(examining issue of causal nexus).

272
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have known" need not have the same meaning under every enforcement
provision of the Exchange Act; rather, its meaning should be "flexible,
varying with the context in which the question arises.""'

The Remedies Act provides a much different context for causing liability
than does Section 15(c)(4). First, it applies the concept to four different
statutes rather than four sections of one statute,"1 I thus encompassing a much
wider variety of violations. Second, Congress passed the Remedies Act for
enforcement and deterrence reasons in addition to the disclosure rationale of
Section 15(c)(4)." 14 Therefore, an inquiry into the proper standards governing
causing liability under the Remedies Act should not be tied to the text of or
the policies supporting the forgotten Section 15(c)(4). s Rather, as this Note
contends, the most productive approach for analyzing causing liability is to
compare it to aiding and abetting liability."6 Therefore, given the scant
legislative history surrounding causing liability, the remainder of this Note
will examine the possible differences between causing liability and aiding and
abetting liability primarily by analyzing legislative purpose and administrative
and judicial case law." 7

112. George C. Kern, Jr., Exchange Act Release No. 24,648, [1988-1989 Transfer Binder]
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 84,342, at 89,591 (Nov. 14,1988), aff'd, Exchange Act Release No.
29,356, 50 S.E.C. 596 (1991); see Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 34, 38 (stating that
ALJ's comment "mudd[ies] the waters" of analogy between causing liability under Section
15(c)(4) and Remedies Act).

113. See supra note 4 (giving applicability of Remedies Act causing liability); supra notes
99-101 and accompanying text (giving Section 15(cX4) applicability).

114. See Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 33 (stating that Remedies Act meant to increase
deterrence); Hansen, supra note 3, at 346 n.26 (explaining that disclosure philosophy of Section
15(c)(4) arguably applies to any ongoing violation depriving investors of material information);
Cook, supra note 16, at 360 (stating that Remedies Act has punitive, not remedial, focus).

115. See Hiler & Gilman, supra note 3, at 267 (maintaining that AL's reliance on
legislative purpose rather than statutory text limits value of Kern for interpreting causing
liability under Remedies Act). The Commission did in fact rely on Kern and a textual compari-
son with Section 15(c)(4) to support its eventual finding of a negligence standard for causing
liability under the Remedies Act. See infra text accompanying note 194 (noting Commission's
argument that Congress incorporated negligence standard into Remedies Act by adopting
"causing" language from Section 15(cX4)). However, the Commission did not rely solely on
this factor in making its decision. See infra text accompanying notes 188-93 (discussing
Commission's four other justifications for negligence standard).

116. See supra Part Ifl.A (describing method of analysis).
117. Commentators have criticized the Commission for using its settlement orders, which

contain both factual and legal conclusions, to put the securities industry on notice of certain
standards of conduct despite the fact that, unlike ALJ decisions or rulemaking, settlement
creates no positive law. See generally Anne C. Flannery, Time for Change: A Re-Examination
ofthe SettlementPolicies of the Securities and Exchange Commission, 51 WASH. & LEE L. REV.
1015 (1994); Report of the Task Force on SEC Settlements, 47 Bus. LAW. 1083, 1140-48
(1992). However, this Note will cite and discuss settled cases as needed given the paucity of
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C. Procedural Issues

1. Forum

Procedural and remedial differences between causing liability and aiding
and abetting liability may suggest proper distinctions between their respective
substantive elements. Therefore, before analyzing the elements of causing
liability, this Note will examine the proper forums for alleging aiding and
abetting claims and causing claims, the remedies available under each theory,
and the additional requirements for obtaining prospective relief.

Two observations regarding the forum for alleging causing liability merit
discussion here. First, even after Central Bank and until quite recently, the
SEC forestalled the development of causing liability law by routinely combin-
ing willful aiding and abetting claims and causing claims in the administrative
forum."8 Throughout the 1990s, the Commission and its ALJs couched both
the allegations and legal findings in their orders in terms of a respondent
"aiding and abetting and causing" securities law violations." 9 However, they
analyzed the facts of these cases solely by reference to the elements of aiding

litigated administrative actions, especially those interpreting causing liability. See Flannery,
supra, at 1015 (noting that SEC settles vast majority of its cases). Furthermore, this Note will
cite aiding and abetting cases brought by private plaintiffs in addition to SEC actions because,
at least in the past, most courts agreed that the language of the substantive federal securities
laws applies to both types of litigants unless stated otherwise. See Sachs, supra note 7, at
1040-43, 1046-47, 1055-58 (criticizing recent shift toward interpreting Exchange Act differ-
ently in public and private actions).

118. See infra notes 119-23 and accompanying text (discussing why SEC used aiding and
abetting before ALJs). In fact, the Commission refused to define the elements of causing
liability officially during the same period that the SEC was unofficially suggesting a mental state
requirement of negligence. See KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43,862,
74 SEC Docket 384,422 n. 104 (Jan. 19,2001) (listing prior unofficial announcements),petition
for review denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002); Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 35,
39 (discussing prior unofficial announcements).

119. See, e.g., Russell Ponce, Exchange Act Release No. 43,235, 73 SEC Docket 442,
443-44, 470 (Aug. 31, 2000) (barring accountant from practicing before Commission and
imposing cease-and-desist order for aiding and abetting and causing reporting and
recordkeeping violations of audit client), appeal docketed, No. 00-71398 (9th Cir. Nov. 1,
2000); John J. Kenny, Initial Decision Release No. 147, 70 SEC Docket 1011, 1011, 1032
(Aug. 6, 1999) (finding that broker aided and abetted and caused superior's fraud); Jeffry L.
Feldman, Securities Act Release No. 7,014, 55 SEC Docket 8, 11-13 (Sept. 20, 1993) (finding
that attorney aided and abetted and caused entity clients' violations of Section 5 of Securities
Act); Hansen, supra note 3, at 354 & n.55 (citing cease-and-desist proceedings involving
allegations of aiding and abetting and causing); Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at 17 & n.29
(same); see also James R. Doty, SEC EnforcementActions Against Lawyers: The Next Phase,
35 S. TEX. L. REV. 585, 599 n.63 (1994) (noting that phrasing of orders is important because
it reveals factual conduct that will create liability).
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and abetting. 2° The Commission's only justification for this approach was
that a factual finding that an individual had aided and abetted a violation
"necessarily" implied that his or her conduct was also a cause of that violation
under Section 21C(a) of the Exchange Act and its parallel Remedies Act
provisions.' By analyzing cases exclusively in terms of aiding and abetting
liability, the Commission avoided any litigation over what conduct, if any,
could trigger causing liability but not liability for aiding and abetting.2  If no
such conduct existed, then causing and aiding and abetting would be substan-
tively identical by reaching exactly the same conduct (despite the different
language in their respective statutes) because the Commission had already
confirmed the converse proposition that all acts of aiding and abetting include
causing.' 

23

The Commission had statutory authority to use aiding and abetting
liability in this way in administrative actions against regulated entities and
associated securities professionals for "willfully" aiding and abetting any
securities law violation. 24 Whether it should have done so is another matter.

120. See, e.g., John J. Kenny, Initial Decision Release No. 147, 70 SEC Docket 1011,
1011, 1032 (Aug. 6, 1999) (finding that broker aided and abetted and caused superior's fraud,
but only analyzing aiding and abetting claim); Jeffry L. Feldman, Securities Act Release No.
7,014, 55 SEC Docket 8, 11-13 (Sept. 20, 1993) (finding that attorney aided and abetted and
caused entity clients' violations of Section 5 of Securities Act, but only discussing law of aiding
and abetting); Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 34, 36-37 (noting this practice).

121. See Dominick & Dominick, Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 29,243, 50 S.E.C. 571,
578 n.11 (1991) ("Because the Commission finds that [respondent] aided and abetted the
violation, his conduct was necessarily a 'cause' under Section 21C of the Exchange Act of a
violation of the securities laws."); filer & Oilman, supra note 3, at 266 n. 116 (noting use of this
rationale in other cases). The Commission did not explain why it had rejected the view of the
ABA Section 15(cX4) Task Force that causing liability involves a higher causation standard
than aiding and abetting. See supra notes 88-90 and accompanying text (explaining Task
Force's conclusion).

122. See 3B BLOOMENTHAL & WOIF, supra note 99, § 14.34 (suggesting that causing
liability is broader than willful aiding and abetting); Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at 17 ("It
remains to be seen whether something less than aiding and abetting can nevertheless be deemed
a cause."); Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 34, 36 (stating that no standard test has
developed for causing liability partly because SEC has refused to distinguish its elements from
those of aiding and abetting).

123. See supra text accompanying note 121 (establishing this converse proposition). Put
another way, if "allAs are Cs" and "all Cs are As," then sets A and C are identical.

124. See supra note 48 (discussing liability under Sections 15(bX4) and 15(bX6) of
Exchange Act and Rule 102(e)); see also 2 MATTHEW BENDER & CO., supra note 2,
§ 9.02[21[c][i] (discussing definition of "willfully"); 6 Louis Loss & JoEL SEuGMAN, SECURI-
TIES REGULATION 3034-39 & n.152 (3d ed. 1990) (same). But see Jeffry L. Feldman, Securi-
ties Act Release No. 7,014, 55 SEC Docket 8, 11-13 (Sept. 20, 1993) (finding, in settled
administrative proceeding not involving Rule 102(e), that attorney "aided and abetted and
caused" entity clients' violations of Section 5 of Securities Act, but only discussing law of
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This practice could have delayed the development of causing liability indefi-
nitely by essentially hiding it under the rubric of aiding and abetting. How-
ever, prompted by its ALJs, 2 the Commission eventually abandoned its "tacit
policy not to explore the boundaries" of causing liability126 and, beginning
with the KPMG case decided in January 2001, began deciding administrative
proceedings based solely on that theory.121 To be sure, even today the SEC
continues to use combined administrative proceedings alleging both aiding
and abetting and causing liability against regulated persons, ostensibly to pile
a cease-and-desist order on top of the other available remedies . 2  Neverthe-
less, one hopes that the SEC will continue to bring cases charging only
causing liability in order to engender more litigation over the precise conduct
that causing liability encompasses and thereby generate a greater respect for
causing liability as an independent form of secondary liability.

aiding and abetting). The substantive elements of these types of aiding and abetting are the
same as under Section 20(e). See H.J. Meyers & Co., Initial Decision Release No. 211, 2002
SEC LEXIS 2075, at *90-91 (Aug. 9, 2002) (reciting traditional test for aiding and abetting in
broker-dealer disciplinary case). However, "willful" in the Section 15(b) context means only
that a person knows what he is doing, while in the Rule 102(e) context it means knowledge that
one took part in an activity that is illegal. See Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 80, 92-93 (discuss-
ing various definitions of willfulness).

125. See infra notes 186-87 (citing cases in which ALJs analyzed aiding and abetting
liability separately from causing liability even though Enforcement Division brought combined
charges); cf Byron G. Borgardt, Initial Decision Release No. 167, 72 SEC Docket 1675,
1709-10 (June 1, 2000) (finding, in first case decided by ALJ charging only causing liability,
that respondent negligently caused investment company to issue false registration statements
by signing them).

126. Hansen, supra note 3, at 355.
127. See, e.g., Michael A. Kolberg, Exchange Act Release No. 45,853, 77 SEC Docket

1625, 1628-29 (May 1, 2002) (finding that plant accountant caused company to violate
reporting and recordkeeping provisions); Erik W. Chan, Exchange Act Release No. 45,693, 77
SEC Docket 851, 859-60 (Apr. 4, 2002) (determining that officer caused corporation's
violation of antifraud provisions); Joan L. Fleener, Securities Act Release No. 8,000, 75 SEC
Docket 1739, 1740-41 (Aug. 14, 2001) (concluding that executives at two corporations caused
bond promoters to violate Section 17 with fraudulent bond offering); see also infra Parts III.C.3
& HL.E.1 (discussing KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43,862, 74 SEC
Docket 384 (Jan. 19, 2001), petition for review denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002)).

128. See, e.g., ND Money Mgmt., Exchange Act Release No. 45,743, 77 SEC Docket
1331, 1334-35 (Apr. 12, 2002) (finding that registered representatives both aided and abetted
and caused investment adviser and investment company violations); IMS/CPAs & Assocs.,
Exchange Act Release No. 45,019, 76 SEC Docket 669, 686 & n.40, 693 (Nov. 5, 2001)
(imposing investment adviser registration suspension for willfully aiding and abetting fraud and
cease-and-desist order for causing it); see also Hansen, supra note 3, at 350-51, 353 (noting
how SEC is piling administrative remedies on regulated entities and their agents); Hiler &
Oilman, supra note 3, at 241-43 (same); Morrissey, supra note 3, at 466-67 (same); Peloso &
Corley, supra note 16, at 16 (same).
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The second important issue regarding the forum for causing liability
claims is the proper conclusion to draw from the fact that Congress allows the
SEC to allege causing liability only in an administrative setting, whereas it
may use the aiding and abetting theory in court. Administrative cases proceed
more quickly than federal court proceedings because of relatively lax eviden-
tiary and procedural rules as well as restricted discovery.'29 The limited but
flexible administrative forum, the expansion of which was a major purpose of
the Remedies Act, seems to dovetail best with the prosecution of less culpable
actors who are more likely to have extenuating circumstances that judges
might be unwilling or unable to consider in court.13

1 This congruence between
procedure and culpability is initial evidence supporting the textual argument
that the substantive elements of causing liability claims should be less de-
manding than those of aiding and abetting liability. However, this evidence
is quite weak because the SEC can also allege aiding and abetting in the
administrative forum against securities professionals.'3

2. Remedies

The different remedies that the SEC can impose on those who cause
violations versus those who aid and abet them is stronger evidence that
causing liability has a lower substantive culpability standard than that of
aiding and abetting liability. Regarding the remedies for aiding and abetting,
a federal district judge may impose a civil monetary penalty or an injunction
on anyone who aids and abets an Exchange Act violation. 32 Furthermore,
courts have retained the right to combine injunctions with traditional forms
of ancillary equitable relief (including disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, asset
freezes, and appointment of receivers) in the securities law context despite the
fact that, until very recently, no statute gave the SEC the authority to seek
these remedies in court.133 The SEC responds to an injunction violation by

129. See 2 MATTHEW BENDER & Co., supra note 2, § 9.02[2] (stating that SEC Rules of
Practice govern ALJ proceedings in lieu of Federal Rules of Evidence and Civil Procedure);
Lome & Callcott, supra note 19, at 1310-11 (noting relative speed of ALJ actions); Morrissey,
supra note 3, at 464 (noting evidentiary and procedural differences).

130. See Hiler & Gilman, supra note 3, at 269 (stating that SEC has used administrative
cease-and-desist authority to distinguish violators based on conduct, involvement, and status).

131. See supra note 124 and accompanying text (describing willful aiding and abetting).
132. See Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 20(e), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e) (2000) (authorizing

SEC aiding and abetting claims in actions under Sections 21 (d)(1) and (3) of Exchange Act);
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 21(dXl), (3), 15 U.S.C. § 78u(dX1), (3) (2000) (authorizing
SEC injunctive and monetary penalty actions in district court).

133. See Goodenow, supra note 9, at 67, 69, 71 (noting that Central Bank could end
practice of judicially implied ancillary equitable relief). But see Securities Exchange Act of
1934 § 21(d)(5), 15 U.S.C.S. § 78u(dX5) (Law. Co-op. Supp. 2002) (allowing courts to grant



60 WASH. &LEE L. REV 249 (2003)

seeking a contempt charge from the issuing judge that results in fines or
imprisonment. s4 Finally, under the federal securities laws, an injunction for
practices in connection with the purchase or sale of securities has certain
"collateral consequences" that have caused some courts to view such an
injunction as punitive rather than remedial. 3 These consequences include:
(1) a duty to disclose the existence of any injunctions against an issuer in all
its SEC filings, (2) automatic loss of most Securities Act registration exemp-
tions, (3) automatic application of administrative penalties (censure, activity
limitations, and registration suspension or revocation) against enjoined
broker-dealers and investment advisers, (4) automatic temporary suspension
of the privilege of practicing before the Commission against enjoined attor-
neys and accountants, (5) disqualification of enjoined individuals from
serving as directors or officers of investment companies, and (6) possible
disqualification from stock exchanges and other self-regulatory organiza-
tions. 1

36

In contrast, a person who causes a securities law violation is only subject
to an order requiring that person to "cease and desist from committing or
causing such violation and any future violation of the same provision, rule, or
regulation" and to take steps to effect present and future compliance with the
law if the Commission so orders. 37  Cease-and-desist orders are similar to
injunctions, 13 but differ in a few key respects. First, disgorgement in cease-
and-desist proceedings has always been an express remedy under the Reme-
dies Act.13 9 Second, if the SEC seeks to enforce a cease-and-desist order, it

all forms of equitable relief in SEC actions for violations of any securities law under Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002).

134. See Morrissey, supra note 3, at 432 (discussing enforcement of injunctions).
135. See Levy, supra note 16, at 651 (explaining effect of collateral consequences on role

of injunctions).
136. See Andrew M. Smith, SEC Cease-and-Desist Orders, 51 ADMIN. L. REV. 1197,

1219-25 (1999) (discussing collateral consequences of securities law injunctions); Levy, supra
note 16, at 673-75 (same).

137. Securities Act of 1933 § 8A(a), 15 U.S.C. § 77h-1(a) (2000); Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 § 21C(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(a) (2000); Investment Company Act of 1940 § 9(0(1), 15
U.S.C. § 80a-9(f)(1) (2000); Investment Advisers Act of 1940 § 203(kXl), 15 U.S.C. § 80b-
3(kXl) (2000). A party may appeal an AL's imposition of a permanent cease-and-desist order
first to the Commission itself and then to a federal court of appeals. See Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 § 25(aX), 15 U.S.C. § 78y(aXl) (2000) (providing judicial review); SEC Rule of
Practice 410(a), 17 C.F.R. § 201.410(a) (2002) (providing Commission review).

138. Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 5 8.
139. Securities Act of 1933 § 8A(e), 15 U.S.C. § 77h-l(e) (2000); Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 § 21C(e), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(e) (2000); Investment Company Act of 1940 § 9(f(5), 15
U.S.C. § 80a-9(0(5) (2000); Investment Advisers Act of 1940 § 203(kX5), 15 U.S.C. § 80b-
3(kXS) (2000). But see supra note 133 (noting recent codification of ancillary equitable relief
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must leave the administrative forum and ask a federal judge either to impose
a civil monetary penalty on the person who violated the order"4 or to issue an
injunction directing compliance with the order, the violation of which could
lead to contempt charges. 4' Finally, the cease-and-desist order carries no
collateral consequences beyond disclosure. 14

1

Clearly, the remedies for causing a violation are weaker (or at least more
flexible) than those for aiding and abetting a violation because (1) the SEC
must go through more steps to secure punitive monetary penalties or contempt
sanctions against those who cause violations and (2) cease-and-desist orders
lack the collateral consequences of injunctions. 4  By passing the Remedies
Act, Congress intended for the SEC to use the remedial flexibility of the
cease-and-desist order to address isolated and less egregious-but nevertheless
illegal--conduct.' Thus, one could reasonably infer that Congress also

for securities law cases in federal court).
140. Securities Act of 1933 § 20(d), 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d) (2000); Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 § 21(dX3), 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3) (2000); Investment Company Act of 1940 § 42(e),
15 U.S.C. § 80a-41 (e) (2000); Investment Advisers Act of 1940 § 209(e), 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)
(2000). The fine for disobeying a cease-and-desist order is rather severe, ranging from $5,000
to $500,000 or the amount of the defendant's pecuniary gain resulting from the violation, if
higher. 2 MATrMW BENDER& Co., FEDERAL SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 § 10.10[10][C] (4th ed.
2002). A court may fine a defendant separately for each discrete violation of an order or for
each day of failed compliance in cases of continuing violations. Id.

141. See Peloso & Corley, supra note 16, at 13 (stating that remedies include injunction
directing compliance).

142. See Smith, supra note 136, at 1221-23 (noting lack of collateral consequences for
cease-and-desist orders). However, cease-and-desist orders may trigger Nasdaq delisting or
state disciplinary action. Id. at 1224-25.

143. See id. at 1217-18 (noting that cease-and-desist orders lack harsh collateral conse-
quences of injunctions); Cook, supra note 16, at 380 (noting that cease-and-desist orders create
"new lowest boundary of punishment" and allow SEC to stop violations "flexibly" by avoiding
federal district court litigation); Levy, supra note 16, at 679 n.214 (outlining many steps to
secure contempt sanctions for enforcing cease-and-desist orders). But see Hansen, supra note
3, at 360 n.75 (warning that subsequent private plaintiffs could use factual findings in settled
cease-and-desist orders for collateral estoppel or as public report evidence under FED. R. EviD.
803(8)(c)). The cease-and-desist order is arguably less harsh than most of the remedies for
willful aiding and abetting by a securities professional as well. See supra note 48 (discussing
willful aiding and abetting provisions). Although censure is perhaps the mildest of all remedies,
suspension or revocation of a broker-dealer registration or of an attorney's or accountant's
privilege of practicing before the Commission strips the affected individuals of their livelihoods.
See supra note 48 (outlining remedies for willful aiding and abetting under various securities
law provisions). Thus, those remedies have an immediate pecuniary impact that a cease-and-
desist order does not. But see Lawton & Botticelli, supra note 19, at 34, 39 (noting that cease-
and-desist orders can also affect defendants' livelihoods).

144. See Morrissey, supra note 3, at 465 (noting that Congress adopted into its reports
statements by former Chairman Breeden that cease-and-desist authority recognized "different
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intended for the procedural flexibility of cease-and-desist orders relative to
injunctions to track the substantive flexibility of causing liability relative to
aiding and abetting liability. 45 That is, given the Remedies Act's purpose of
remedial flexibility, causing liability should be easier to establish than aiding
and abetting liability because the remedy for the former is less severe.

3. Further Showing for Prospective Relief

Although courts have long required the SEC to show a "reasonable"
likelihood of future violation in order to secure an injunction (for both aiding
and abetting and primary violations), 146 until recently considerable contro-
versy existed as to whether the Enforcement Division must make a similar
showing to an AU in order to secure a cease-and-desist order for committing
or causing a violation. 4 The first of the ALJs to consider the issue decided
that this showing was not necessary because no such requirement exists in the
text of the Remedies Act and because Congress intended the cease-and-desist
order to be a rapid and flexible remedy. 48 However, later decisions by other
ALJs were divided on the issue. 49

degrees of securities violations") (citation omitted).
145. See Jeffrey M. Steinberg, Administrative Proceedings Rulings Release No. 568, 68

SEC Docket 120, 123 (Sept. 11, 1998) (arguing that imposing scienter requirement on causing
liability would "subvert the whole purpose" of providing SEC with remedies to respond to less
egregious conduct); Cox, supra note 48, at 538 ("The [Remedies Act's] Congressional history
is replete with the philosophy that balancing fault with the sanction not only serves the public
interest but also avoids too draconian a sanction being imposed on the defendant.").

146. See Levy, supra note 16, at 649 & n.25 (citing cases requiring showing beyond
underlying violation in order to justify prospective relief). The securities statutes providing for
SEC injunctive actions require a "proper showing" from the Commission for judges to grant
such requests, but courts have held that while that showing does include a reasonable likelihood
of future violation, it does not include irreparable harm or inadequacy of legal remedies given
the statutory rather than equitable basis for the action. Id. at 649; see supra note 8 (citing
injunction statutes). Courts determine the reasonable likelihood of a future violation by
balancing the following factors, which vary somewhat based on the jurisdiction: egregiousness
of offense, repeated offenses, degree of scienter, sincere assurances against future violations,
recognition of wrongful conduct, and likelihood that the defendant's occupation will present
opportunities for future violations. Ferrara et al., supra note 2, at 69.

147. See 2 MATTHEW BENDER & Co., supra note 2, § 9.02[2][c][ii] (noting lingering
question of required showing for cease-and-desist orders); Hansen, supra note 3, at 347-48
(same); Morrissey, supra note 3, at 467 (same); Shah, supra note 22, at 276-77 (same).

148. See Joel Zbar, Administrative Proceedings Rulings Release No. 425, 56 SEC Docket
1784, 1787-89 (Apr. 28, 1994) (explaining why further showing is unnecessary); see also
Smith, supra note 136, at 1207-08 (noting that injunction provisions require showing that
defendant is "about to engage" in future violations, whereas AL may issue cease-and-desist
order against anyone who "has violated" securities laws).

149. Compare Fu-Sung Peter Wu, Initial Decision Release No. 144, 70 SEC Docket 513,
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In January 2001, the Commission held in KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 1 0

537 (July 22, 1999) ("By the explicit language of the statutes, an order may issue absent a
finding that a respondent is apt to commit violations in the future."), rev'd on other grounds,
Exchange Act Release No. 45,694, 77 SEC Docket 922 (Apr. 4, 2002), and Hudson Investors
Fund, Inc., Initial Decision Release No. 139, 69 SEC Docket 1365, 1401 (Mar. 30, 1999)
("These statutes, by their terms, permit the entry of a cease-and-desist order upon concluding
that a violation of the securities laws has occurred."), with Warren 0. Trepp, Initial Decision
Release No. 115, 65 SEC Docket 614, 642 (Aug. 18, 1997) ("Similar to an injunction, there
must be a likelihood of future violation to issue a cease-and-desist order.... "), affid on other
grounds, Exchange Act Release No. 41,913, 70 SEC Docket 2037 (Sept. 24, 1999), and
Valicenti Advisory Servs., Inc., Initial Decision Release No. 111, 64 SEC Docket 2363,
2387-88 (July 2, 1997) (requiring reasonable likelihood by analogy to injunctions and cease-
and-desist orders of other agencies), rev'd on other grounds, Investment Advisers Act Release
No. 1,774, 53 S.E.C. 1033, 1040-41 (1998) (finding reasonable likelihood on facts as pre-
sented, but not stating if it is required in all cases), aff'd, 198 F.3d 62 (2d Cir. 1999). In
reviewing the Trepp decision, the Commission cited the age of the case as its reason for
affirming the ALJ's dismissal of the matter, but refused to address "whether the standard
employed by the law judge in denying the Division's request for a cease-and-desist order was
the proper one." Warren GI. Trepp, Exchange Act Release No. 41,913, 70 SEC Docket 2037,
2037-38 (Sept. 24, 1999). For further discussion of Trepp, Wu, and Zbar, see Byron G.
Borgardt, Initial Decision Release No. 167, 72 SEC Docket 1675, 1711-12 (June 1, 2000),
Shah, supra note 22, at 281-83, and Smith, supra note 136, at 1198-1200.

150. KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43,862, 74 SEC Docket 384
(Jan. 19, 2001), reconsideration denied, Exchange Act Release No. 44,050, 74 SEC Docket
1351 (Mar. 8, 2001), petition for review denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002). Among the
issues the Commission considered in KPMG were whether the SEC can allege causing liability
based on negligence and whether it must show a reasonable likelihood of future violation to
secure a cease-and-desist order. Id. at 421,428-29. The auditing firm of KPMG Peat Marwick
LLP (KPM) had forged a strategic alliance with KPMG BayMark Strategies LLC (Baymark)
in order to provide restructuring consulting services to KPMG audit clients. Id. at 386-89.
KPMG formed Baymark by loaning secured funds to Baymark's principals for use as equity
contributions to Baymark. Id. at 388. One of Baymark's principals, Edward Olson, accepted
the post of chief operating officer at Porta Systems Corp. (Porta), an audit client of KPMG, in
an effort to save Porta from insolvency and in return for a fee based on Porta's earnings. Id. at
392. The Commission found that KPMG violated the auditor independence rules of Regulation
S-X both by engaging in a loan transaction with an officer of an audit client and by receiving
a fee contingent on a client's success. Id. at 412-19. The Commission also found that KPM1
caused Porta to violate Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act by preparing financial statements
submitted as part of Porta's Form 10-K that independent accountants had not audited. Id. at
420-21. Based on the plain meaning of Exchange Act Section 21C(a) and its legislative history,
the Commission held that, at least in cases involving a primary violation of a statute that does
not require scienter (such as Section 13(a)), the Enforcement Division can establish causing
liability based on negligence rather than recklessness. Id. at 421-23. In this case, after
receiving notice of a possible independence problem with Porta, two KPMG partners had
unreasonably failed to inquire further and thus subjected KPMG to liability, although their
conduct was not reckless given that they previously discussed the general contours of the
Baymark arrangement with the SEC's Chief Accountant. Id. at 423-28. The Commission also
held that the issuance of a cease-and-desist order requires a showing of some likelihood of
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that an order requiring a person to cease and desist from committing or
causing a securities law violation requires a showing by the Division of
Enforcement that "some" likelihood of a future violation by that person would
exist but for the order.' 5' The Commission justified imposing a likelihood
requirement by saying that, like an injunction, a cease-and-desist order is
prospective by definition, so that "[i]f there is no possible risk of future
violation, it is difficult to see the remedial purpose" of the order.I" However,
the Commission appeared to take a middle position in the debate over the
likelihood requirement by further reasoning that both the statutory text of
Exchange Act Sections 21C(a) and 21(d) and the legislative history of the
former suggest that Congress intended the required showing for a cease-and-
desist order to be "significantly less" than that for an injunction.'53 Specifi-
cally, the Commission stated: "Though 'some' risk is necessary, it need not
be very great .... Absent evidence to the contrary, a finding of violation
raises a sufficient risk of future violation."' 54

Thus, the Commission created a likelihood requirement for cease-and-
desist orders, but then subjected it to a rebuttable presumption in the SEC's
favor by basing it on the violation that the Division of Enforcement has pre-
sumably just proved. 55 Precisely what rebuttal evidence a respondent could
offer is unclear. In a motion for reconsideration, KPMG argued that the

future violations because that remedy is forward-looking by definition. Id. at 428-29. How-
ever, based on the text and legislative purpose of Section 21C(a), the Commission also found
that the required showing is less than that required for an injunction and that, in most cases, the
Enforcement Division can satisfy it simply by pointing to the current violations at issue. Id. at
430-32, 435-36. Finding that the loan and fee arrangements each independently warranted a
sanction, the Commission ordered KPMO to cease-and-desist from violating Regulation S-X
or causing a violation of Section 13(a). Id. at 436-38.

151. Id. at428-30.
152. Id. at 429-30.
153. See id. at 430-32, 435-36 (comparing "has violated" standard for cease-and-desist

orders with "about to engage" standard for injunctions and noting that Congress intended for
SEC to use orders as alternative remedies against isolated and less threatening conduct). The
Commission also found that the cease-and-desist order practices of other federal agencies did
not provide clear guidance on the likelihood requirement issue. Id. at 433-35.
154. Id. at 430.
155. See 0. Bradley Taylor, Initial Decision Release No. 215, 2002 SEC LEXIS 2429, at

*37 (Sept. 24, 2002) (finding strong likelihood of future violation and imposing cease-and-
desist order based solely on respondent's "disregard for the securities laws" in case at hand),
final, Exchange Act Release No. 46,711, 2002 SEC LEXIS 2713, at *1 (Oct. 23, 2002);
Crimmins & Herr, supra note 5, at 1086-87 (discussing post-KPMG cases applying new
standard, all of which resulted in cease-and-desist orders); Mixter, supra note 22, at 989 n.101
(calling KPMG requirement mere "perfunctory showing"); cf Shah, supra note 22, at 289 ("In
practical effect, the Commission's decision means that no showing of likelihood of future
violations is required for cease-and-desist orders.").



LIABILITY FOR "CA USING" VIOLATIONS

presumption "nullified" the requirement because the "'question of whether or
not to issue a cease-and-desist order only arises after there has been a finding
of a past violation, and issuance of a cease-and-desist order would become
automatic if nothing more were required to show future likelihood."" 6 In
denying this claim and KPMG's motion, the Commission reiterated its state-
ment from the original opinion that "[a]long with the risk of future violations,
we will continue to consider our traditional factors" for determining whether
the Commission should exercise its discretion to impose sanctions for securi-
ties law violations.5 7 These so-called "Steadman factors" include:

The egregiousness of the defendant's actions, the isolated or recurrent
nature of the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the
defendant's assurances against futureviolations, the defendant's recognition
of the wrongful nature of his conduct, and the likelihood that his occupation
will present opportunities for future violations.""8

Because these factors are substantially the same ones that courts consider to
determine whether a reasonable likelihood of future violations exists to war-
rant an injunction,'5 9 one would think that an administrative respondent could
also use them to rebut the "some likelihood" presumption for cease-and-desist
orders. However, the Commission specifically stated that it will use the
Steadman factor inquiry "not to determine whether there is a 'reasonable
likelihood' of future violations but to guide our discretion."' 6

Despite this ambiguity, in May 2002 the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia Circuit affirmed the Commission's standard on a petition
for review by KPMG.' 61 The court found that the language and history of
Exchange Act Section 21 C supported the use of a lower risk of future violation

156. KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 44,050,74 SEC Docket 1351,
1360 (Mar. 8,2001).

157. Id. (quoting KPMO Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43,862,74 SEC
Docket 384, 436 (Jan. 19, 2001), petition for review denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002));
see 2 MATrEW BENDER & Co., supra note 2, § 9.02[2][c][iii] (discussing Steadman factors).

158. KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, Exchange Act Release No. 43,862, 74 SEC Docket 384,
428 (Jan. 19, 2001) (quoting Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979), aff'd on
other grounds, 450 U.S. 91 (1981)), petitionfor review denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002).
In its KPMG ruling, the Commission added to these traditional factors by stating that, in issuing
cease-and-desist orders, it would also consider the recency of the violation, the resulting degree
of harm to investors or the marketplace, the remedial function of a cease-and-desist order in
light of other sanctions being sought in the same proceedings, and possibly the use of the order
as a means of alerting the public about the violation. Id. at 436 & n.148.

159. See id. at 436 (calling cease-and-desist factors "akin" to injunction factors); cf supra
note 146 (discussing injunction factors).

160. KPMG, 74 SEC Docket at 436.

161. KPMG, LLP v. SEC, 289 F.3d 109, 112 (D.C. Cir. 2002).


